Inflammation and oxidative damage in Alzheimer's disease: friend or foe?

Daniela Galimberti, Elio Scarpini

Department of Neurological Sciences, Dino Ferrari Center, University of Milan, Fondazione Ca' Granda, IRCCS Ospedale Maggiore Policlinico, Via F. Sforza 35, 20122, Milan, Italy

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1. Abstract

- 2. Introduction
- 3. Pathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease: the amyloid hypothesis
 - 3.1. APP gene family
 - 3.2. APP processing
 - 3.3. APP role
- 4. Tau and Alzheimer's disease
- 5. Role of inflammation in Alzheimer's disease
 - 5.1. Cytokines
 - 5.2. Chemokines
 - 5.3. Oxidative damage
 - 5.4. Role of innate immunity
- 6. Genetic inflammatory risk factors for Alzheimer's disease
 - 6.1. Apolipoprotein E
 - 6.2. Cytokines
 - 6.3. Chemokines
 - 6.4. Oxidative damage
 - 6.5. Progranulin
 - 6.6. Wide Genome Analyses
- 7. Anti-inflammatory drugs in AD
- 8. Concluding remarks
- 9. Acknowledgements
- 10. References

1. ABSTRACT

The two major neuropathologic hallmarks of AD are extracellular Amyloid beta plaques and intracellular neurofibrillary tangles. A number of additional pathogenic mechanisms have been described, including inflammation and oxidative damage. Regarding inflammation, several cytokines and chemokines have been detected both immunohistochemically and in Cerebrospinal Fluid from patients. Some of them, including Tumor Necrosis Factoralpha, Interferon-gamma-inducible Protein-10, Monocyte Chemotactic Protein-1 and Interleukin-8, are increased in AD and in Mild Cognitive Impairment, considered the prodromal stage of AD, suggesting that these modifications occur very early during the development of the disease, possibly explaining the failure of trials with antiinflammatory agents in patients with severe AD. Further evidence suggests that cytokines and chemokines could play a role in other neurodegenerative disorders. These disorders are considered multifactorial diseases, and genetic factors influence pathological events and contribute to change the disease phenotype from patient to patient. Gene polymorphisms in crucial molecules, including cytokines, chemokines and molecules related to oxidative stress, may act as susceptibility factors, or may operate as regulatory factors, modulating the severity of pathogenic processes.

2. INTRODUCTION

Alzheimer's disease is the most common cause of dementia in the elderly, with a prevalence of 5% after 65 vears of age, increasing to about 30% in people aged 85 vears or older. It is characterized clinically by progressive cognitive impairment, including impaired judgment, decision-making and orientation, often accompanied, in later stages, by psychobehavioural disturbances as well as language impairment. Mutations in genes encoding for APP, PSEN1 and PSEN2 account for about 5% of cases, characterized by an early onset (before 65 years of age). So far, 32 different mutations, causing amino acid changes in putative sites for the cleavage of the protein, have been described in the APP gene in 89 families, together with 179 PSEN1 mutations in and 14 in PSEN2 (http://www.molgen.ua.ac.be/).

The two major neuropathologic hallmarks of AD are extracellular Abeta plaques and intracellular NFTs. The production of Abeta, which represents a crucial step in AD pathogenesis, is the result of cleavage of APP, that is overexpressed in AD (1). Abeta forms highly insoluble and proteolysis resistant fibrils known as SP. In contrast to the low-fibrillar Abeta plaques (diffuse plaques), highly fibrillar forms of Abeta plaques (dense-core plaques, showing all the classical properties of amyloid including beta-sheet secondary structure) (2) are associated with glial and neuritic changes of the surrounding tissue (neuriticplaques) (3). NFTs are composed of the tau protein. In healthy subjects, tau is a component of microtubules, which represent the internal support structures for the transport of nutrients, vesicles, mitochondria and chromosomes within the cell. Microtubules also stabilize growing axons, which are necessary for the development and growth of neurites (1). In AD, tau protein is abnormally hyperphosphorylated and forms insoluble fibrils, originating deposits within the cell.

A number of additional pathogenic mechanisms, possibly overlapping with Abeta plaques and NFTs formation, have been described, including inflammation, oxidative damage, iron dysregulation, cholesterol metabolism. In this review, mechanisms related to inflammation and oxidative stress will be discussed and treatments under development to interfere with these pathogenic steps presented.

3. PATHOGENESIS OF ALZHEIMER'S DISEASE: THE AMYLOID HYPOTHESIS

The APP plays a central role in AD pathogenesis and in AD research, as it is the precursor of Abeta, which is the heart of the amyloid cascade hypothesis of AD.

3.1. APP gene family

The human APP gene was first identified in 1987 by several laboratories independently. The two APP homologous, APLP1 and APLP2, were discovered several years later. APP is a type I membrane protein. Two predicted cleavages, one in the extracellular domain (betasecretase cleavage) and another in the transmembrane region (gamma-secretase cleavage) are necessary to release Abeta from the precursor protein. Notably, APP is located on chromosome 21, and this provided an immediate connection to the invariant development of AD pathology in trisomy 21 (Down's syndrome) individuals. The first mutations demonstrated to be causative of inherited forms of familial AD were identified in the APP gene (4), providing an evidence that APP plays a central role in AD pathogenesis. Importantly, only *APP* but not its homologous *APLP1* and *APLP2* contain sequences encoding the Abeta domain.

3.2. APP processing

Full-length APP undergoes sequential proteolytic processing. It is first cleaved by alpha-secretase (nonamyloidogenic pathway) or beta-secretase (amyloidogenic pathway) within the luminal domain, resulting in the shedding of nearly the entire ectodomain and generation of alpha- or beta-CTFs. The major neuronal beta-secretase, named BACE1 is a transmembrane aspartyl protease which cleaves APP within the ectodomain, generating the Nterminus of Abeta (5). Nevertheless, several zinc metalloproteinases such as TACE/ADAM17, ADAM9, ADAM10 and MDC-9, and the aspartyl protease BACE2, can cleave APP at the alpha-secretase site (6) located within the Abeta domain, thus precluding the generation of intact Abeta. The second proteolytic event in APP processing involves intramembranous cleavage of alpha- and beta-CTFs by gamma-secretase, which liberates a 3kDa protein (p3) and Abeta peptide into the extracellular milieu. The minimal components of gamma-secretase include presenilin (PS)1 or PS2, nicastrin, APH-1 and PEN-2 (7). Protein subunits of the gamma-secretase assemble early during biogenesis and cooperatively mature as they leave the endoplasmic reticulum. Biochemical evidence is consistent with PSEN1 (or PSEN2) as the catalytic subunit of the gamma-secretase complex, and nicastrin to mediate the recruitment of APP CTFs to the catalytic site of the gamma-secretase. Major sites of gamma-secretase cleavage correspond to positions 40 and 42 of Abeta.

Amyloidogenic processing is the favored pathway of APP metabolism in neurons, due to the greater abundance of BACE1, whereas non-amyloidogenic pathway predominates in other cell types.

It seems that none of the above mentioned secretases have unique substrate specificity towards APP. Besides APP, a number of other transmembrane proteins undergo ectodomain shedding by enzymes with alphasecretase activity. Regarding BACE1, its low affinity for APP leads to the hypothesis that APP is not its sole physiological substrate. Similarly, PS1 and PS2 play a crucial role in intramembranous gamma-secretase cleavage of several type I membrane proteins other than APP, including Notch1 receptors and its ligands (8).

3.3. APP role

A number of functional domains have been mapped to the extra- and intracellular region of APP, including metal (copper and zinc) binding, extracellular matrix components (heparin, collagen and laminin), neurotrophic and adhesion domains. Thus far, a trophic role for APP has been suggested, as it stimulate neurite outgrowth in a variety of experimental settings. The Nterminal heparin-binding domain of APP also stimulates neurite outgrowth and promotes synaptogenesis. In addition, an "RHDS" motif near the extraluminal portion of APP likely promotes cell adhesion, possibly acting in an integrin-like manner. Similarly, APP colocalizes with integrins on the surface of axons at sites of adhesion (9,10).

Despite APP was initially proposed to act as a cell surface receptor, the evidence supporting this hypothesis has been unconvincing. Only recently, aside of from interactions with extracellular matrix proteins, a candidate ligand has been proposed. In was in fact reported that F-spondin, a neuronal secreted signaling glycoprotein that may function in neuronal development and repair, binds to the extracellular domain of APP as well as of APLP1 and APLP2 (11). This binding reduces beta-secretase cleavage of APP, suggesting therefore that F-spondin binding may regulate APP processing.

APP-deficient animals are a useful model to better understand the role of APP. Deficient APP mice did not show major phenotypic abnormalities (12). However, *APLP2^{-/-}/APLP1^{-/-}* and *APP^{-/-}/APLP2^{-/-}* mutants, but not *APP^{-/-}/APLP1^{-/-}* animals, showed early postnatal lethality, indicating that members of the APP gene family are essential genes, which exhibit partial overlapping functions. Deficiency of all the *APP* genes lead to death shortly after birth. The majority of animals studied showed cortical dysplasia suggestive of migrational abnormalities of the neuroblasts and partial loss of cortical Cajal Retzius cells (13). Taken together, these findings presented a convincing picture that members of the *APP* family play essential roles in the development of the nervous system related to synapse structure and function as well as in neuronal migration.

Given the trophic properties of APP, it would be natural to predict that overexpression of APP would lead to phenotypes related to the enhanced neurite outgrowth and cell growth, which in fact was demonstrated (14). However, convincing negative phenotypes, in which APP does not act as trophic factor, has been reported as well. For example, over-expression of APP in cells induced to differentiate into neurons lead to cell death (15). In transgenic mice, the overexpression of familial ADassociated APP mutations resulted in the development of Abeta deposition and Abeta associated changes in the brain, including loss of synaptic markers, thus confirming the pathogenic nature of these mutations. A detailed examination also showed axonal swellings and varicosities, which were observed months before any evidence of Abeta deposition (16). In this model, tau deposition occurs as a consequence of a deregulation of its phosphorylation induced by Abeta deposition (17).

4. TAU AND ALZHEIMER'S DISEASE

Tau is relatively abundant in neurons but is present in all nucleated cells and functions physiologically to bind microtubules and stabilize microtubule assembly for polymerization. Tau encoding gene (MAPT) consists of 16 exons. In the adult brain, alternative splicing of tau nuclear RNA transcribed on exons 2, 3, and 10, results in six tau isoforms, having either three or four peptide repeats of 31 or 32 residues in the C terminal region encoded on exon 10, comprising the microtubule binding domain or differing in the expression of zero, one or two inserts encoded on exon two and three. During neurodegeneration, tau is abnormally phosphorylated . The profile of alternative splicing differs among pathological phenotypes, such that tau accumulation in AD is a mixture of 3R and 4R tau, Pick disease tends to be 3R tau, corticobasal degeneration and progressive supranuclear palsy tends to be 4R tau, and so-called argyrophilic grain disease accumulates small inclusions comprised of 3R tau (18).

5. ROLE OF INFLAMMATION IN ALZHEIMER'S DISEASE

The identification of pathogenic molecules as well as potential biomarkers in AD can be theoretically achieved via two different strategies: the first strategy can be defined as "knowledge-based" (deductive method based on the current knowledge of AD pathophysiology), while the second one is more "unbiased" (inductive strategy). The "knowledge-based" approach relies on a direct understanding of the pathophysiological processes that underlie the development of AD. It consists of biochemical assays (ELISA) aiming to assess attractive novel candidate markers informed by the biology of the disease process. On the other hand, the "unbiased" approach involves the use of modern techniques including proteomics, peptidomics, metabolomics, and bioinformatics that have allowed unbiased investigations of putative markers that may be informative with regard to AD. Notably, the majority of inflammation and/or oxidative stress biomarkers in AD described in detail in the following sections have been thus far identified using a "knowledge-based" approach".

5.1. Cytokines

The fibrillar deposition of extracellular Abeta is closely associated with a neuroinflammatory response, which includes a local up-regulation of acute-phase proteins, complement fragments, cytokines and other inflammatory mediators (19). So far, epidemiological studies suggested that inflammatory processes play a role in the pathogenesis of AD. Prospective case-cohort studies showed that higher serum levels of certain acute-phase proteins are a risk factor for the development of AD (20-22). Moreover, epidemiological studies indicate that longstanding use of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs can prevent or delay the development of AD (23).

Microglial cells are the major producers of inflammatory factors. During the early stages of AD pathogenesis, activated microglia were clustered within classic (dense-cored) plaques in the AD neocortex (24). These plaques showed strong immunostaining for complement factor C1q and serum amyloid P component (SAP). Plaque-associated factors C1q and SAP may trigger microglia to secrete high levels of proinflammatory cytokines (3).

Activated microglial cells colocalize with Abeta, and *in vitro* studies demonstrated that Abeta induces the production of TNFa in such cells (25). This cytokine is a pleiotropic factor acting as an important mediator of inflammatory responses in a variety of tissues. Levels of TNFa in CSF from AD patients are 25-fold higher than in CSF from age-matched controls (26), suggesting a role for inflammation in neurodegeneration. Nevertheless, other findings demonstrated a protective_effect of TNFa as it likely protects neurons against Abeta triggered citotoxicity (27). In APP23 transgenic mice overexpressing beta APP, deletion of the TNFR1, which contributes to apoptosis, leads to Abeta generation and plaque formation inhibition in the brain. Moreover, deletion of TNFR1 resulted in reduced beta-secretase levels and activity (28).

IL-1 exerts pleiotropic actions by binding to its receptor IL-1R and has been identified as a mediator in several forms of neurodegeneration. In AD, an increased production of IL-1 has been demonstrated by immunohistochemistry. In particular, it is expressed by microglia localized around amyloid deposits, possibly participating to plaque formation (29). Conflicting results have been reported with regard to IL-6 levels in serum and CSF of AD patients. However, it has been shown that its mRNA levels are increased in the entorhinal cortex and the superior temporal gyrus of AD patients (29). Interestingly, previous studies demonstrated a large increase in endogenous IL-6 bioactivity in response to ischemia, as well as a marked neuroprotection produced by exogenous IL-6, thus suggesting that this cytokine is an important inhibitor of neuronal death during cerebral ischemia (30).

Additional cytokines of the IL-6 family are IL-11 and LIF (31). Interleukin-11 mean CSF levels were significantly increased in AD and FTLD (a neurodegenerative dementia causing behavioural and language dysfunctions) as compared with controls, whereas CSF LIF levels were not detectable either in patients or controls (32). In accordance with previous results (33), in AD patients, a significantly positive correlation between MMSE scores and IL-11 CSF concentration was observed (32).

In contrast with the previously described cytokines, TGFb has mainly an anti-inflammatory action. Several data show that its levels are increased in the brain of AD patients, as well as in plasma and CSF. Moreover, TGFb was also found both in amyloid plaques and tangles (21). TGFb1 drives the production of Abeta40/42 by astrocytes, leading to Abeta production in TGFb1 transgenic mice. Notably, TGFbeta1 induces the overexpression of the APP in astrocytes but not in neurons, involving a highly conserved TGFb1 responsive element in the 5'-UTR. In addition, TGFb1 potentiates Abeta production also in human astrocytes, possibly enhancing the formation of Abeta plaques in the brain of patients with AD (34).

As a general comment, microglial-produced "inflammatory" cytokines have neuropathic as well as neuroprotective actions. For instance, whereas excess levels of TNFa might cause neurotoxicity, low-dose TNFa could, alternatively, trigger the neuroprotective and/or antiapoptotic genes (35). The role of glial cells is to support and sustain proper neuronal function and microglia are no exception to this general principle. In acutely injured CNS, microglia have a neuroprotective and pro-regenerative role (36). Therefore, the primary mode of action of microglia seems to be the protection of the central nervous systems. Nevertheless, upon excessive or sustained activation, microglia could significantly contribute to chronic neuropathologies, leading to neurotoxicity (3).

5.2. Chemokines

Chemokines are low molecular weight chemotactic cytokines that have been shown to play a crucial role in early inflammatory events. Based on the arrangement of cysteine residues, chemokines are divided into two main families: CXC or alpha-chemokines, i.e IP-10 and IL-8, responsible for attracting neutrophils, and CC or beta-chemokines, i.e MCP-1 and MIP-1a and b, which act basically on monocytes (37).

Upregulation of a number of chemokines has been associated with AD pathological changes (38). IP-10

immunoreactivity was markedly increased in reactive astrocytes in AD brains, as well as the level of its expression. Astrocytes positive for IP-10 were found to be associated with senile plaques and showed an apparently coordinated up-regulation of MIP-1b (39,40). Significant increased IP-10 levels were observed in CSF from patients with mild AD as compared with severe AD. Similarly to mildly impaired AD, IP-10 increased levels were also found in subjects with amnestic MCI (33). The deposition of Abetaknown to activate microglia to produce proinflammatory cytokines, may be responsible for the accumulation of IP-10 found in AD patients. In fact, the genomic organization of IP-10 gene shows the presence, in the promoter region, of critical regulatory sequences responding to IFNg and TNFa independently activated factors, which lead to the transcriptional activation of the gene. Therefore, it is conceivable that the increased IP-10 levels observed in mild AD patients could be linked to amyloid deposition (33). IP-10 increase is likely restricted to an early stage of AD, when proinflammatory events are thought to play a more important role in disease development. The same trend has been observed also considering MCP-1 and IL-8 levels, strengthening the hypothesis that intrathecal inflammation precedes the development of AD, and represents an initiating factor of the disease rather than a late consequence (33).

With regard to a possible use of chemokine to easily predict evolution from MCI to AD, few investigation in serum have been so far carried out, despite a growing body of evidence supporting the hypothesis that some peripheral biochemical modifications also occur very early during AD pathogenesis. For instance, serum MCP-1 levels have been demonstrated to be increased in MCI subjects (41). Conversely, IP-10 serum levels were not increased in AD patients, but were found to correlate with aging (42).

5.3. Oxidative damage

Oxidative stress is supposed to play a relevant role in the pathogenesis of several neurodegenerative diseases, including AD. Abeta and other lesion-associated proteins are a major source of ROS and other toxic radicals (43). Increasing evidence supports a role of oxidative stress and impaired energy metabolism in the pathogenesis of the disease: an increase in DNA, lipid and protein oxidation metabolites has been observed in blood as well as postmortem brain samples from AD patients compared with healthy subjects (44). Free radicals are produced by mitochondria, as a side product, during the reduction of molecular oxygen. The production of radicals is thought to be higher in cerebral tissue, particularly vulnerable to free radical damage because of its low content of antioxidants, high content of polyunsaturated fatty acids in neuronal membranes and high oxygen requirements for its metabolic process (45). Further observations indicate reduced cerebral metabolism in AD (45) as well as reduced activities of specific mitochondrial enzyme complexes, such as cytochrome oxidase (46-48). Alterations in these key enzymes can favor the aberrant production of ROS. Intracellular oxidative balance is tightly regulated and, therefore, an upregulation of antioxidant compensatory mechanisms would be expected in AD. The induction of

Cu/Zn superoxide dismutase, catalase, GSHPx, GSSG-R, peroxiredoxins and a number of heat shock proteins (49) suggests that vulnerable neuronal cells mobilize antioxidant defense in the face of increased oxidative stress (43). On the other hand, the TAC (including glutathione, ascorbic acid, uric acid and bilirubin) was shown to be reduced by 24% in plasma samples from AD patients (50). A link between oxidative stress and hyperhomocysteinemia, which is a known risk factor for the development of AD (51), has been hypothesized, as Hcy influences DNA repair, promoting the accumulation of DNA damage caused by oxidative stress (52). Recent in vitro studies demonstrate that Hcy increases levels of thiobarbituric acid reactive substances, which represent an index of peroxidation, and decreases levels of total-trapping antioxidant potential in a model of rat hippocampus (53). High tHcy levels are at present considered one of the major risk factors for the development of AD as a strong, graded association between tHcy levels and the risk of dementia and AD has been demonstrated (51). In this regard, there are evidences that tHcy levels are increased in late onset AD (LOAD; disease onset >65 years), but not in early onset AD (EOAD; disease onset <65 years), suggesting an influence on this parameter of other pathological conditions, mainly vascular diseases, which often co-occur with LOAD (54).

Similarly to inflammation, emerging evidence indicates that oxidative damage to neuronal RNA and protein is an early event in AD pathogenesis (55). Oxidative imbalance is likely to be present in subjects with MCI. Both in MCI and in AD patients, plasma mean levels of non-enzymatic antioxidants and lower activity of antioxidant enzymes appeared to be lower than in controls, with no parallel induction of antioxidant enzymes (56). In this regard, it has been recently shown that subjects with MCI have plasma, urine and CSF levels of the isoprostane 8,12-iso-iPF2a -VI, which is a marker of in vivo lipid peroxidation, higher than healthy subjects (57). This evidence clearly indicates that oxidative imbalance and subsequent oxidative stress are early events in AD evolution, and are probably secondary to other mechanisms specific to AD but not present in other neurodegenerative diseases (58).

On the basis of these studies, suggesting that oxidative imbalance may help to understand whether MCI is a prodromal stage of AD and whether a common pathogenesis between AD and MCI occurs, ROS, tHcy, and TAC were evaluated in samples from patients with AD, MCI and VaD, compared with age-matched healthy subjects. Total Hcy levels were significantly increased in AD as well as in VaD patients compared with controls. Notably, tHcy levels slightly increased were found in MCI patients compared with controls. As regards ROS levels, no significant differences were shown between patients and controls. TAC was significantly lower in AD patients than in either healthy subjects or VaD patients. No correlation between ROS and TAC levels in each subject was observed (59). In conclusion, an alteration of some biochemical factors involved in oxidative stress occurs in AD patients. Both tHcy and TAC modifications seem to be early events in the pathogenesis of AD, whereas ROS levels appear to be correlated with age rather than with a specific dementing disorder. This consideration leads to the hypothesis that oxidative imbalance observed in AD is mainly due to a decreased TAC rather than to an increased production of ROS (59).

5.4. Role of innate immunity

As previously mentioned, activated microglia, which represents innate immune cells in the CNS, play a pivotal role in the development of AD, either clearing Abeta deposits by phagocytic activity or releasing cytotoxic substances and proinflammatory cytokines. TLRs are a family of pattern-recognition receptors in the innate immune system. Exogenous and endogenous TLR ligands activate microglia. In mouse models homozygous for a destructive mutation of TLR4, an increase in diffuse and fibrillar Abeta deposits in the brain was observed as compared with wild type mice (60). The Asp299Gly polymorphism of TLR4 gene has been associated with an attenuated receptor signaling and a blunted inflammatory response. The frequency of the minor 299Gly allele was significantly higher in healthy elderly people than in patients with AD (61), suggesting a protective role of the variant towards the development of AD. A subsequent study demonstrated that the +896A/G SNP is associated with AD, strengthening the hypothesis that systemic inflammation plays a role in AD (62).

Another factor likely implicated in AD is the RAGE, Administration of soluble (s)RAGE in mouse models of AD reduced the development of cerebral beta-amyloidosis. Given this evidence, plasma levels of sRAGE were studied in patients with AD and VaD compared with controls, demonstrating a specific decrease of sRAGE plasma levels in AD (63). Moreover, sRAGE levels were reduced in MCI, suggesting a potential use of sRAGE levels as early biomarker (64). sRAGE plasma levels are likely influenced by a polymorphism in PPAR-g gene. It has in fact been demonstrated that AD patients carrying the Pro/Ala genotype of the PPAR-g Pro12Ala polymorphism had significantly lower plasma sRAGE levels than patients with Pro/Pro genotype, despite this polymorphism was nor associated with the risk to develop AD (65).

6. GENETIC INFLAMMATORY RISK FACTORS FOR ALZHEIMER'S DISEASE

Genetic variability is a prominent characteristic of many neurodegenerative disorders. Risk genes are likely to be numerous, displaying intricate patterns of interaction with each other as well as with non-genetic variables, and unlike classical Mendelian ("simplex") disorders - exhibit no simple mode of inheritance. Mainly due to this reason, the genetics of these diseases has been labeled "complex" (66). The ability to genetically map complex disorders has been facilitated by technological improvement in identifying and genotyping polymorphic DNA markers. The current trend is to use SNPs, the most frequent genetic variants. The search for susceptibility genes in complex diseases centers on two major techniques: linkage mapping and candidate gene approach. Linkage analysis attempts to identify a region (locus) of the chromosome or regions (loci) in the genome associated with the disease or trait by identifying which alleles in the loci are segregating with the disease in families, whereas genetic association analysis examines whether affected individuals share the variant allele more often than control subjects do (67).

6.1. Apolipoprotein E

The gene mainly related to sporadic AD is the APOE (68) which is located in chromosome 19q13.32 and was initially identified by linkage analysis (69). The relationship between APOE and AD has been confirmed in more than 100 studies conducted in different populations. The gene has three different alleles: APOE*2, APO*3 and APOE*4. The APOE*4 allele is the variant associated with AD. Longitudinal studies in Caucasian populations have shown that carriers of one APOE*4 allele have at least a two-fold increased risk for AD (70). The risk increases in homozygote for the APOE*4 allele, and this allelic variant is also associated with an earlier onset of the disease. Interestingly, APOE*4 likely interacts with other genes to increase the susceptibility to AD. In particular, an interaction with two polymorphisms in APH-1a and APH-1b, both subunits of the gamma-secretase complex, have been demonstrated (71). APOE*4, has also been analyzed to test whether it acts as a risk factor for sporadic FTLD. A number of studies suggested an association between FTLD and APOE*4 allele (72-77). Other Authors however, did not replicate these data (78-80). Recent findings demonstrated an association between the APOE*4 allele and FTLD in males, but not females (81), possibly explaining the discrepancies previously reported. An increased frequency of the $APOE^{*4}$ allele was described in patients with SD compared to those with FTD and PPA (79).

6.2. Cytokines

A large number of candidate genes studies have been performed in order to search a robust risk factor for the sporadic form of the disease. These studies were mainly focused on genes clearly involved in the pathogenesis of AD, such as genes encoding for inflammatory molecules or genes involved in the oxidative stress cascade, both considered major factors in AD pathology. One of the strongest evidence of the role played by genetic variants in inflammatory agents to increase the risk of AD involves the IL1 complex which is located on chromosome 2q14-21 and includes IL1a, IL1b, and Il-1Ra, all of which have significant polymorphisms found to be associated with AD in several case- controls studies carried out in different populations (82-84). Several polymorphisms in IL-6 which is a potent inflammatory cytokine have also been investigated. The IL6 gene is located on chromosome 7p21 and polymorphisms exist in the -174 promoter region and in the region of a VNTR which is located in the 3'untraslated region. Both of them have been found associated with AD in case-controls studies (85,86). Investigation of TNFa polymorphisms was initiated because genome screening had suggested a putative association of AD with a region on chromosome 6p21.3, which lies within 20 centimorgans of the $TNF\alpha$ gene. Furthermore, other polymorphisms located in the promoter region of $TNF\alpha$ have been associated with autoimmune and inflammatory diseases (87). α 1-Antichymotrypsin (*ACT*) is an acute-phase reactant produced by activated astrocytes and is elevated in brains from patients affected with AD. The combined effect of *ACT* and *IL1beta* polymorphisms have been demonstrated by Licastro *et al.* (86).

As with TNF α , investigation, of the role of alpha-2macroglobulin (*A2M*) was initiated as a result of screening studies of the genome. In this case, linkage was found in the region of chromosome 1p, where *A2M* and its low-density lipoprotein receptor are located. Blacker *et al.* (88) tested for association of polymorphisms with AD showing a strong involvement of this gene in AD.

6.3. Chemokines

In addition, polymorphisms in chemokines have been investigated with regard to susceptibility of AD. In particular, MCP-1 and RANTES have been widely screened in different neurodegenerative diseases (89). The distribution of the A-2518G variant was determined in different AD populations with concordant results (90,91) showing no evidence for association of this variant in AD compared with controls. Moreover, a significant increase of MCP-1 serum levels in AD carrying at least one G polymorphic allele was found (91). Therefore, the A-2518Gpolymorphism does not seem to be a risk factor for the development of AD, but its presence correlates with higher levels of serum MCP-1.

RANTES promoter polymorphism -403 A/G, found to be associated with several autoimmune diseases, was examined in AD population, failing to find significant differences between patients and controls (89).

The genes *CCR2* and *CCR5*, encoding for the receptors of MCP-1 and RANTES, respectively, have been also screened for association with AD. The most promising variants involve a conservative change of a valine with an isoleucine at codon 64 of *CCR2* (*CCR2-641*) and a 32-bp deletion in the coding region of *CCR5* (*CCR5* Δ 32), which leads to the expression of a non functional receptor. A decreased frequency and an absence of homozygous for the polymorphism *CCR2-641* were found in AD, thus suggesting a protective effect of the mutated allele on the occurrence of the disease (86); conversely, no different distribution of the *CCR5* Δ 32.

CCL8/MCP-2 rs1133763 SNP was studied in both patients with AD and FTLD, but no differences with controls were found (94). A further chemokine recently tested for susceptibility with AD is IP-10. A mutation scanning of the gene coding region has been performed in a restricted number of AD patients searching for new variants. The analysis demonstrated the presence of two previously reported polymorphisms in exon 4 (G/C and T/C), which are in complete linkage disequilibrium, as well as a novel rare one in exon 2 (C/T). Subsequently, these SNPs have been tested in a wide case-control study, but no differences in haplotype frequencies were found (95).

6.4. Oxidative damage

Other genes under investigation are related to oxidative stress. In this regard, genes coding for the NOS complex have been screened. The common polymorphism consisting in a T/C transition (T-786C) in NOS3, previously reported to be associated with vascular pathologies, has been tested in AD, but no significant differences with controls were found (96). Nevertheless, the expression of NOS3 in PBMC either from patients or controls seems to be influenced by the presence of the C allele, and is likely to be dose dependent, being mostly evident in homozygous for the polymorphic variant. The influence of the polymorphism on NOS3 expression rate supports the hypothesis of a beneficial effect exerted in AD by contributing to lower oxidative damage (96).

An additional variant in *NOS3* gene has been extensively investigated in AD patients, although results are still controversial. It is a common polymorphism consisting in a single base change (*G894T*), which results in an aminoacidic substitution at position 298 of *NOS3* (Glu298Asp). Dahiyat *et al.* (97) determined the frequency of the Glu298Asp variant in a two-stage case-control study, showing that homozygous for the wild-type allele were more frequent in late onset AD. However, studies in other populations failed to replicate these results (98-101).

Recently Guidi *et al* (102) correlated this variant with tHcy levels in 97 patients and 23 controls, on the basis of a previous study from Brown *et al.* (103) who demonstrated, in two independent healthy populations, that subjects homozygous for the mutation tend to have higher tHcy concentrations compared with Glu/Asp and Glu/Glu subjects. The Glu/Glu genotype was correlated with higher levels of tHcy and its frequency was increased in AD patients (102). Thus, the mechanism by which this genotype contributes to increase the risk in developing AD could be mediated by an increase of tHcy levels.

However. NOS-1 is the isoform most abundantly expressed in the brain. Genetic analyses demonstrated that the double mutant genotype of the synonymous C276T polymorphism in exon 29 of the NOSI gene represents a risk factor for the development of early onset AD (104), whereas the dinucleotide polymorphism in the 3'UTR of NOS1 is not associated with AD (105). To date, the promoter region of NOS1, located approximately 200 kb upstream of this polymorphism, has not been investigated for susceptibility to AD. Due to this reason and to further explore a possible association of NOS1 polymorphisms with AD, the distribution of a functional polymorphisms and a variable number of tandem repeats (VNTR) was analyzed in a case-control study, which tested 184 AD patients as well as 144 healthy subjects (106). The functional variant considered is located in exon 1c, which is one of the nine alternative first exons (named 1a-1i), resulting in NOS1 transcripts with different 5'-untraslated regions (107). Three SNPs have been identified in exon 1c, but only the G-84A variant displays a functional effect, as the A allele decreases transcription levels by 30% in invitro models (108). Regarding exon 1f, a VNTR) polymorphism has been recently reported in its putative

promoter region, termed NOS1 Ex1f-VNTR. This VNTR is highly polymorphic and consists of different numbers of dinucleotides (B-O), which, according to their bimodal distribution, have been dichotomized in short (B-J) and long (K-Q) alleles for association studies (109). Both Ex1c G-84A and Ex1f-VNTR are associated with psychosis and prefrontal functioning in patients with schizophrenia (108). Notably, both Ex1c and Ex1f transcripts are found in the hippocampus and the frontal cerebral cortex (109), i.e. brain regions implicated in the pathogenesis of schizophrenia as well as AD. The presence of the short (S) allele of NOS1 Ex1f-VNTR resulted to be a risk factor for the development of AD (106). The effect is cumulative, as in S/S carriers the risk is doubled. Most interestingly, the effect of this allele is likely to be gender specific, as it was found in females only. In addition, the S allele was shown to interact with the APOE*4 allele both in males and females, increasing the risk to develop AD by more than 10 fold (106). Thus, NOS1 seems to be a risk factor for AD, but only in female population. This could be explained by a possible interaction with other genes or with additional environmental factors present in females but not males.

6.5. Progranulin

An intriguing factor related with inflammatory processes is named *GRN*. It has attracted significant attention in the scientific community following the recent discoveries of mutations causative for FTLD with ubiquitin-immunoreactive neuronal inclusions (FTLD-U) (110,111). A number of pathogenic *GRN* variants are predicted to result in a premature termination codon, leading to the degradation of the mutant mRNA through the process of nonsense mediated decay, resulting in a null allele (110).

GRN is a multifunctional secreted growth factor encoded by GRN gene on chromosome 17q21. GRN encodes for a 593 amino acid glycoprotein containing 7.5 tandem repeats of 12 cysteinyl granulin motifs. Progranulin and the various granulin peptides derived by elastase cleavage are implicated in a range of biological functions (112). Progranulin is widely expressed in several tissues and has been implicated in development, wound repair, inflammation and tumorigenesis (113). It is highly expressed in neurons of the cerebral cortex, the hippocampus and the cerebellum but its role in the CNS has not been investigated extensively (114). Intriguingly, GRN expression has been found increased in activated microglia as well as in peripheral blood in AD suggesting a potential role in this pathology (110,115). Furthermore, several patients carrying mutations in GRN exhibited a clinical presentation indistinguishable from AD (116-118). Recently the same Authors investigated the genetic variability within the GRN locus in a Belgian population of AD patients and found *GRN* haplotypes associated with increased risk for AD (119). Progranulin was tested for association with AD in an Italian population but this study did not confirm the role of this gene as susceptibility factor for the disease (120). Nevertheless, rs5848 polymorphism was consistently associated with decreased GRN mRNA levels in the parietal lobe of patients with AD. This effect was observed also in PBMC from patients (120). GRN

variability was shown to contribute instead to sporadic FTLD in an Italian population (121).

6.6. Wide Genome Analyses

Several linkage studies have been performed, giving rise to additional candidate susceptibility loci at chromosomes 1, 4, 6, 9, 10, 12 and 19. In particular, promising loci have been found at chromosome 9 and 10 (122,123). Very recently, a wide genome analysis identified variants at CLU (which encodes clusterin or ApoJ) on chromosome 8 and PICALM in chromosome 11 associated with AD (124).Data on CLU were replicated in an independent study, which, in addition, demonstrated that CR1, encoding the complement component (3b/4b) receptor 1 and located on chromosome 1, is associated with AD (125).

7. ANTI-INFALMMATORY DRUGS IN ALZHEIMER'S DISEASE

A large body of epidemiologic evidence suggested that long-term use of NSAIDs protects against the development of AD (23,126). Nevertheless, prospective studies of Rofecoxib (127), Naproxen (128), diclofenac (129), celecoxib (130), dapsone (131), hydroxychloroquine (132), nimesulide (133) failed to slow progression of cognitive decline in patients with moderate AD. In contrast, Indomethacin may delay cognitive decline in this subset of patients, but gastrointestinal toxicity is treatment-limiting (134,135). Because of general concerns about lack of efficacy, gastrointestinal toxicity, myocardial infarction and stroke, NSAIDs are not considered to be viable treatment options for patients with AD.

A promising compound is Rosiglitazone (AVANDIA®), an anti-diabetic agent with anti-inflammatory properties, which was tested in two small clinical trials. Rosiglitazone treatment for 24 weeks resulted in a modest but significant improvement in cognition in non-ApoE*4 carriers, but no improvement and rather a decline in cognition in *e4* carriers was demonstrated (136). A phase III trial has recently been completed (http://clinicaltrials.gov), although results are not available yet.

8. CONCLUDING REMARKS

As demonstrated by data previously discussed, a number of factors implicated in inflammation and oxidative damage play a role in the pathogenesis of AD. The ongoing research on biomarkers of AD is becoming extremely complex, thus a systematic organization of data that may facilitate the online sharing of biomarker metadata among researchers is mandatory.

Importantly, inflammation is an early event in the pathogenesis of AD, thus explaining the failure of all drugs so far tested in mild to severe AD. Future therapeutic trials should be carried out as early as possible during the course of the disease, implying the need to identify more accurate tools for early diagnosis. In this regard, new research diagnostic criteria have been proposed in 2007 (137), introducing the use of CSF analysis, structural (CT scan, MR) and functional (PET, SPECT) imaging and genetics, together with classical neuropsychological testing, for early and specific diagnosis. Large-scale international controlled multicenter trials are engaged in phase III development of the core feasible imaging and CSF biomarkers candidates in AD (US, European, Australian, and Japanese AD Neuroimaging Initiative, and the German Dementia Network). If the validation of these new criteria will be achieved, they should be considered in the setting of future clinical trials to identify more homogeneous study groups.

Lastly, indicators useful as surrogate outcome measures (surrogate biomarkers) should be identified in order to: 1) have substitutes for clinical endpoints (i.e. neuropsychological testing) 2) have tools able to predict clinical benefit, or the opposite 3) demonstrate whether there are disease-modifying properties. So far, none among biomarkers proposed for early diagnosis has been validated as a surrogate marker for monitoring treatments.

9. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Part of data presented have been obtained thanks to grants from Monzino Foundation, IRCCS Fondazione Ospedale Maggiore Policlinico, Italian Ministry of Health (PS39) and Ing. Cesare Cusan.

10. REFERENCES

1. W.S. Griffin: Inflammation and neurodegenerative diseases. *Am J Clin Nutr* 3 (suppl), 470S-474S (2009)

2. M. Rak, M.R. Del Bigio, S. Mai, D. Westaway, K. Gough: Dense-core and diffuse Abeta plaques in TgCRND8 mice studied with synchrotron FTIR microspectroscopy. *Biopolymers* 87 (4), 207-217 (2007)

3. J.J.M.Hoozemans, R. Veerhuis, J.M. Rozemuller, P. Eikelenboom: Neuroinflammation and regeneration in the early stages of Alzheimer's disease pathology. *Int J Neuroscience* 24, 157-165 (2006)

4. J. Hardy: Amyloid, the presenilins and Alzheimer's disease. *Trends Neurosci* 20 (4), 154-159 (1997)

5. R. Vassar: BACE1: the beta-secretase enzyme in Alzheimer's disease. *J Mol Neurosci* 23 (1-2), 105-114 (2004)

6. T.M Allinson, E.T Parkin, A.J. Turner, N.M. Hooper: ADAMs family members as amyloid precursor protein alphasecretases. *J Neurosci Res* 74 (3), 342-352 (2003)

7. D. Edbauer, E. Winkler, J.T. Regula, B. Pesold, H. Steiner; C. Haass: Reconstitution of gamma-secretase activity. *Nat Cell Biol* 5 (5), 486-488 (2003)

8. EH Koo, R. Kopan: Potential role of presenilinregulated signaling pathways in sporadic neurodegeneration. *Nat Med* 10 Suppl, S26-33 (2004) 9. E. Storey, T. Spurck, J. Pickett-Heaps, K. Beyreuther, C.L. Masters: The amyloid precursor protein of Alzheimer's disease is found on the surface of static but not activity motile portions of neurites. *Brain Res* 735 (1), 59-66 (1996)

10. T. Yamazaki, E.H. Koo, D.J. Selkoe: Cell surface amyloid beta-protein precursor colocalizes with beta 1 integrins at substrate contact sites in neural cells. *J Neurosci* 17 (3), 1004-1010 (1997)

11. A. Ho, T.C. Südhof: Binding of F-spondin to amyloidbeta precursor protein: a candidate amyloid-beta precursor protein ligand that modulates amyloid-beta precursor protein cleavage. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 101 (8), 2548-5253 (2004)

12. H. Zheng, M. Jiang, M.E. Trumbauer, D.J. Sirinathsinghji, R. Hopkins, D.W. Smith, R.P. Heavens, G.R. Dawson, S. Boyce, M.W. Conner, K.A. Stevens, H.H. Slunt, S.S. Sisodia, H.Y. Chen, L.H. Van der Ploeg: beta-Amyloid precursor protein-deficient mice show reactive gliosis and decreased locomotor activity. *Cell* 81 (4), 525-531 (1995)

13. J. Herms, B. Anliker, S. Heber, S. Ring, M. Fuhrmann, H. Kretzschmar, S. Sisodia, U. Müller: Cortical dysplasia resembling human type 2 lissencephaly in mice lacking all three APP family members. *EMBO J* 23 (20), 4106-4115 (2004)

14. M. Leyssen, D. Ayaz, S.S. Hébert, S. Reeve, B. De Strooper, B.A. Hassan: Amyloid precursor protein promotes post-developmental neurite arborization in the Drosophila brain. *EMBO J* 24 (16), 2944-2955 (2005)

15. K. Yoshikawa, T. Aizawa, Y Hayashi: Degeneration *in vitro* of post-mitotic neurons overexpressing the Alzheimer amyloid protein precursor. *Nature* 359 (6390), 64-67 (1992)

16. G.B. Stokin, C. Lillo, T.L. Falzone, R.G. Brusch, E. Rockenstein, S.L. Mount, R. Raman, P. Davies, E. Masliah, D.S. Williams, L.S. Goldstein: Axonopathy and transport deficits early in the pathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease. *Science* 307 (5713), 1282-1288 (2005)

17. J. Hardy, D.J. Selkoe: The amyloid hypothesis of Alzheimer's disease: progress and problems on the road to therapeutics. *Science* 297 (5580), 353-356 (2002)

18. R.J. Castellani, A. Nunomura, H. Lee, G. Perry, M.A. Smith: Phosphorylated tau: toxic, protective, or none of the above. *J. Alzheimers Dis*, 14, 377-383 (2008)

19. H. Akiyama, S. Barger, S. Barnum, B. Bradt, J. Bauer, G.M. Cole, N.R. Cooper, P. Eikelenboom, M. Emmerling, B.L. Fiebich, C.E. Finch, S. Frautschy, W.S.; Griffin, H. Hampel, M. Hull, G. Landreth, L. Lue, R. Mrak, I.R. Mackenzie, P.L. McGeer, M.K. O'Banion, J. Pachter, G. Pasinetti, C. Plata-Salaman, J. Rogers, R. Rydel, Y. Shen, W. Streit, R. Strohmeyer, I. Tooyoma, F.L. Van Muiswinkel, R. Veerhuis, D. Walker, S. Webster, B. Wegrzyniak, G. Wenk, T Wyss-Coray: Inflammation and Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiol Aging*, *21*, 383-421 (2000)

20. K. Yaffe, K. Lindquist, B.W. Penninx, E.M. Simonsick, M. Pahor, S. Kritchevsky, L. Launer, L. Kuller, S. Rubin, T. Harris: Inflammatory markers and cognition in well-functioning African-American and white elders. *Neurology* 61 (1), 76-80 (2003)

21. M.J. Engelhart, M.I. Geerlings, J. Meijer, A. Kiliaan, A. Ruitenberg, J.C. van Swieten, T. Stijnen, A. Hofman, J.C. Witteman, M.M. Breteler:Inflammatory proteins in plasma and the risk of dementia : the Rotterdam study. *Arch Neurol*, 61, 668-672 (2004)

22. MG Dik, C. Jonker, C.E. Hack, J.H. Smit, H.C. Comijs, P. Eikelenboom: Serum inflammatory proteins and cognitive decline in older persons. *Neurology* 64, 1371-1377 (2005)

23. P.L. McGeer, M. Schulzer, E.G. Mc Geer: Arthritis and antiinflammatory agents as possible protective factors for Alzheimer's disease: a review of 17 epidemiologic studies. *Neurology* 47, 425-432 (1996)

24. R. Veerhuis, M.J. Van Breemen, J.M.; Hoozemans, M. Morbin, J. Ouladhadj, F. Tagliavini, P. Eikelenboom: Amyloid beta plaque-associated proteins C1q and SAP enhance the Abeta 1-42 peptide-induced cytokine secretion by adult human microglia *in vitro. Acta Neuropathol* 105, 135-144 (2003)

25. L. Meda, M.A. Cassatella, G.I. Szendrei, L. Otvos Jr.; P. Baron, M. Villalba, D. Ferrari, F. Rossi:Activation of microglial cells by beta-amyloid protein and interferon-gamma. *Nature* 374, 647-650 (1995)

26. E. Tarkowski, A. Wallin, K. Blennow, A. Tarkowski: Intracerebral production of tumor necrosis factor-alpha, a local neuroprotective agent, in Alzheimer disease and vascular dementia. *J Clin Immunol* 19, 223-230 (1999)

27. S.W. Barger, D. Hörster, K. Furukawa, Y. Goodman, J. Krieglstein, M.P. Mattson: Tumor necrosis factors alpha and beta protect neurons against amyloid beta-peptide toxicity: evidence for involvement of a kappa B-binding factor and attenuation of peroxide and Ca2+ accumulation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 92, 9328-9332 (1995)

28. P. He, Z. Zhong, K. Lindholm, L. Berning, W. Lee, C. Lemere, M. Staufenbiel, R. Li, Y. Shen: Deletion of tumor necrosis factor death receptor inhibits amyloid b generation and prevents learning and memory deficits in Alzheimer's mice. *J Cell Biol* 178 (5), 829-841 (2007).

29. M. Cacquevel, N. Lebeurrier, S. Chéenne, D. Vivien: Cytokines in neuroinflammation and Alzheimer's disease. *Current Drug Targets* 5, 529-534 (2004)

30. S.A. Loddick, A.V. Turnbull, N.J. Rothwell: Cerebral interleukin-6 is neuroprotective during permanent focal

cerebral ischemia in the rat. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab* 18: 176-179 (1998).

31. T. Taga, T. Kishimoto: Gp130 and the interleukin-6 family of cytokines. *Annu Rev Immunol* 15, 797-819 (1997)

32. D. Galimberti, E. Venturelli, C. Fenoglio, I. Guidi, C. Villa, L. Bergamaschini, F. Cortini, D. Scalabrini, P. Baron, C. Vergani, N. Bresolin, E. Scarpini: Intrathecal levels of IL-6, IL-11 and LIF in Alzheimer's disease and Frontotemporal Lobar Degeneration. *J Neurol* 255 (4), 539-544 (2008)

33. D. Galimberti, N. Schoonenboom, P. Scheltens, C. Fenoglio, F. Bouwman, E. Venturelli, I. Guidi, M.A. Blankenstein, N. Bresolin, E. Scarpini: Intrathecal chemokine synthesis in mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer disease. *Arch Neurol* 63 (4), 538-543 (2006)

34. S. Lesnè, F. Docagne, C. Gabriel, G. Liot, D.K. Lahiri, L. Buèe, L. Plawinski, A. Delacourte, E.T. MacKenzie, A. Buisson, D. Vivien:Transforming growth factor- β 1 potentiates amyloid- β generation in astrocytes and in transgenic mice. *J Biol Chem* 278 (20), 18408-18418 (2003)

35. J.M. Rozemuller, F.L. van Muiswinkel: Microglia and neurodegeneration. *Eur J Clin Invest* 30, 469-470 (2000)

36. W.J. Streit: Microglia as neuroprotective, immunocompetent cells of the CNS. *Glia* 40, 133-139 (2002)

37. E. Scarpini, D. Galimberti, P. Baron, R. Clerici, M. Ronzoni, G. Conti, G. Scarlato: IP-10 and MCP-1 levels in CSF and serum from multiple sclerosis patients with different clinical subtypes of the disease. *J Neurol Sci* 195, 41-46 (2002)

38. M.Q. Xia, B.T. Hyman: Chemokines/chemokine receptors in the central nervous system and Alzheimer's disease. *J Neurovirol* 5, 32-41 (1999)

39. M.Q. Xia, S.X. Qin, L.J. Wu, C.R. Mackay, B.T. Hyman: Immunohistochemical study of the beta-chemokine receptors CCR3 and CCR5 and their ligands in normal and Alzheimer's disease brains. *Am J Pathol* 153, 31-37 (1998)

40. M.Q. Xia, B.J. Bacskai, R.B. Knowles, S.X. Qin, B.T. Hyman: Expression of the chemokine receptor CXCR3 on neurons and the elevated expression of its ligand IP-10 in reactive astrocytes: *in vitro* ERK1/2 activation and role in Alzheimer's disease. *J Neuroimmunol* 108, 227-235 (2000)

41. D. Galimberti, C. Fenoglio, C. Lovati, E. Venturelli, I. Guidi, B. Corrà, D. Scalabrini, F. Clerici, C. Mariani, N. Bresolin, E. Scarpini: Serum MCP-1 levels are increased in mild cognitive impairment and mild Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiol Aging* 27 (12), 1763-1768 (2006)

42. D. Galimberti, E. Venturelli, C. Fenoglio, C. Lovati, I. Guidi, D. Scalabrini, C. Mariani, N. Bresolin, E. Scarpini: IP-10 serum levels are not increased in Mild Cognitive

Impairment and Alzheimer's disease. Eur J Neurol 14 (4), e3-e4 (2007)

43. X. Zhu, A.K. Raina, H.G. Lee, G.M. Casadesus, M.A. Smith, G. Perry: Oxidative stress signaling in Alzheimer's disease. *Brain Res* 1000, 32-39 (2004)

44. W.R. Markesbery, J.M. Carney: Oxidative alterations in Alzheimer's disease. *Brain Pathol 9*, 133-146 (1999)

45. Y. Christen: Oxidative stress and Alzheimer's disease. *Am J Clin Nutr* 71, 621S-629S (2000)

46. G.E. Gibson, F.K. Sheu, J.P. Blass: Abnormalities of mitochondrial enzymes in Alzheimer's disease. *J Neural Transm* 105, 855-870 (1998)

47. I. Maurer, S. Zierz, H.J. Moller: A selective defect of cytochrome c oxidase is present in brain of Alzheimer's disease patients. *Neurobiol Aging* 21, 455-462 (2000)

48. D.A. Cottrell, E.L. Blakely, M.A. Johnson, P.G. Ince, D.M. Turnbull: Mitochondrial enzyme-deficient hippocampal neurons and choroidal cells in AD. *Neurology* 57, 260-264 (2001)

49. M.Y. Aksenov, H.M. Tucker, P. Nair, M.V. Aksenova, D.A. Butterfield, S. Estus, W.R. Markesbery: The expression of key oxidative stress-handling genes in different brain regions in Alzheimer's disease. *J Mol Neurosci* 11, 151-164 (1998)

50. M.G. Repetto, C.G. Reides, P. Evelson, S. Kohan, E.S. de Lustig, S.F. Llesuy: Peripheral markers of oxidative stress in probable Alzheimer's patients. *Eur J Clin Invest* 29, 643-649 (1999)

51. S. Seshadri, A. Beiserm, J Selhub, P.F. Jacques, I.H. Rosenberg, R.B. D'Agostino, P.W. Wilson, P.A. Wolf: Plasma homocysteine as a risk factor for dementia and Alzheimer's disease. *New Engl J Med* 346, 476-483 (2002)

52. I.I. Kruman, T.S. Kumaravel, A. Lohani, W.A. Pedersen, R.G. Cutler, Y. Kruman, N. Haughey, J. Lee, M. Evans, M.P. Mattson: Folic acid deficiency and homocysteine impair DNA repair in hippocampal neurons and sensitize them to amyloid toxicity in experimental models of Alzheimer's disease. *J Neurosci* 22, 1752-1762 (2002)

53. E.L. Streck, P.S. Vieira, C.M. Wannmacher, C.S. Dutra-Filho, M. Wajner, A.T. Wyse: *In vitro* effect of homocysteine on some parameters of oxidative stress in rat hippocampus. *Metab Brain Dis* 18, 147-154 (2003)

54. I. Guidi, D. Galimberti, E. Venturelli, C. Lovati, R. Del Bo, C. Fenoglio, A. Gatti, R. Dominici, S. Galbiati, R. Virgilio, S. Pomati, G.P. Comi, C. Mariani, G. Forloni, N. Bresolin, E. Scarpini: Influence of the Glu298Asp polymorphism of *NOS3* on age at onset and homocysteine levels in AD patients. *Neurobiol Aging* 26 (6), 789-794 (2005)

55. A. Nunomura, G. Perry, G. Aliev, K. Hirai, A. Takeda, E.K. Balraj, P.K. Jones, H. Ghanbari, T. Wataya, S. Shimohama, S. Chiba, C.S. Atwood, R.B. Petersen, M.A. Smith: Oxidative damage is the earliest event in Alzheimer disease. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol* 60 (8), 759-767 (2001)

56. P. Rinaldi, M.C. Polidori, A. Metastasio, E. Mariani, P. Mattioli, A. Cherubini, M. Catani, R. Cecchetti, U. Senin, P. Mecocci: Plasma antioxidants are similarly depleted in mild cognitive impairment and in Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiol Aging* 24, 915-919 (2003)

57. D. Praticò, C.M. Clark, F. Liun, J. Rokach, V.Y. Lee, J.Q. Trojanowski: Increase of brain oxidative stress in mild cognitive impairment: a possible predictor of Alzheimer's disease. *Arch Neurol* 59, 972-976, (2002)

58. D. Praticò, S. Sung: Lipid peroxidation and oxidative imbalance: early functional events in Alzheimer's disease. *J Alzheimers Dis* 6, 171-175 (2004)

59. I. Guidi, D. Galimberti, S. Lonati, C. Novembrino, F. Bamonti, M. Tiriticco, C. Fenoglio, E. Venturelli, P. Baron, N. Bresolin, E. Scarpini: Oxidative imbalance in patients with mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiol Aging* 27, 262-269 (2006)

60. K. Tahara, H. Kim, J. Jin, J.A. Maxwell, L. Li, K. Fukuchi: Role of toll-like receptor signalling in A β uptake and clearance. *Brain* 129, 3006-3019 (2006)

61. P. Minoretti, C. Gazzaruso, C.D. Vito, M. Bianchi, E. Coen, M. Reino, D. Geroldi: Effect of the functional toll-like receptor 4 Asp299Gly polymorphism on susceptibility to late-ons*et al*zheimer's disease. *Neurosci Lett* 391 (3), 147-149 (2006)

62. C.R. Balistreri, M.P. Grimaldi, M. Chiappelli, F. Licastro, L. Castiglia, F. Listi, S. Vasto, D. Lio, C. Caruso, G. Candore: Association between the polymorphism of TLR4 and CD14 genes and Alzheimer's disease. *Curr Pharm Des* 14 (26), 2672-2677 (2008)

63.

E. Emanuele, A. D'Angelo, C. Tomaino, G. Binetti, R. Ghidoni, P. Politi, L. Bernardi, R. Maletta, A.C. Bruni, D. Geroldi: Circulating levels of soluble receptor for advanced glycation end products in Alzheimer disease and vascular dementia. *Arch Neurol* 62 (11), 1734-1736 (2005)

64. R. Ghidoni, L. Benussi, M. Glionna, M. Franzoni, D. Geroldi, E. Emanuela, G. Binetti: Decreased plasma levels of soluble receptor for advanced glycation end products in mild cognitive impairment. *J Neural Transm* 115 (7), 1047-1050 (2008)

65. L. Yao, K. Li, L. Zhang, S. Yao, Z. Piao, L. Song: Influence of the Pro12Ala polymprphism of PPAR-gamma

on age at onset and sRAGE levels in Alzheimer's disease. *Brain Res* 1291, 133-139 (2009)

66. L. Bertram, R.E. Tanzi: The genetic epidemiology of neurodegenerative disease. *J Clin Invest* 115 (6): 1449-1157 (2005)

67. J.M. Kwon, A.M. Goate: The candidate gene approach. *Alcohol Res Health* 24 (3):164-168 (2000).

68. E.H. Corder, A.M. Saunders, W.J. Strittmatter, D.E. Schmechel, P.C. Gaskell, G.W. Small, A.D. Roses, J.L.Haines, M.A. Pericak-Vance: Gene dose of apolipoprotein E type 4 allele and the risk of Alzheimer's disease in late onset families. *Science* 261 (5123), 921-923 (1993)

69. M.A. Pericak-Vance, J.L. Bebout, P.C. Gaskell Jr, L.H. Yamaoka, W.Y. Hung, M.J. Alberts, A.P. Walker, R.J. Bartlett, C.A. Haynes, K.A. Welsh, *et al*: Linkage studies in familial Alzheimer disease: evidence for chromosome 19 linkage. *Am J Hum Genet* 48 (6), 1034-1050 (1991)

70. J. Raber, Y.Huang Y J.W. Ashford: ApoE genotype accounts for the vast majority of AD risk and AD pathology. *Neurobiol Aging* 25 (5), 641-650 (2004).

71. M. Poli, L.B. Gatta, C. Lovati, C. Mariani, D. Galimberti, E. Scarpini, I. Biunno, M. Musicco, R. Dominici, A. Albertini, D. Finazzi: Interaction between the APOE varepsilon4 allele and the APH-1b c+651T>G SNP in Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiol Aging* 29 (10), 1494-1501 (2008)

72. L.A. Farrer, C.R. Abraham, L. Volicer, E.J. Foley, N.W. Kowall, A.C. McKee, J.M. Wells: Allele epsilon 4 of apolipoprotein E shows a dose effect on age at onset of Pick disease. *Exp Neurol* 136, 162–170 (1995).

73. L. Gustafson, M. Abrahamson, A. Grubb, K. Nilsson, G. Fex: Apolipoprotein-E genotyping in Alzheimer's disease and frontotemporal dementia. *Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord* 8, 240–243 (1997).

74. S. Helisalmi, K. Linnaranta, M. Lehtovirta, A. Mannermaa, O. Heinonen, M. Ryynänen, P. Riekkinen Sr, H. Soininen: Apolipoprotein E polymorphism in patients with different neurodegenerative disorders. *Neurosci Lett* 205, 61–64 (1996).

75. M. Stevens, C.M. van Duijn, P. de Knijff, C. van Broeckhoven, P. Heutink, B.A. Oostra, M.F. Niermeijer, J.C. van Swieten: Apolipoprotein E gene and sporadic frontal lobe dementia. *Neurology* 48, 1526–1529 (1997).

76. S.F. Fabre, C. Forsell, M. Viitanen, M. Sjögren, A. Wallin, K. Blennow, M. Blomberg, C. Andersen, L.O. Wahlund, L. Lannfelt: Clinic-based cases with frontotemporal dementia show increased cerebrospinal fluid tau and high apolipoprotein E epsilon4 frequency,

but no tau gene mutations. *Exp Neurol* 168, 413–418 (2001).

77. L. Bernardi, R.G. Maletta, C. Tomaino, N. Smirne, M. Di Natale, M. Perri, T. Longo, R. Colao, S.A. Curcio, G. Puccio, M. Mirabelli, T. Kawarai, E. Rogaeva, P.H. St George Hyslop, G. Passarino, G. De Benedictis, A.C. Bruni: The effects of APOE and tau gene variability on risk of frontotemporal dementia. *Neurobiol Aging* 27 (5), 702-709 (2006).

78. D. Geschwind, J. Karrim, S.F. Nelson, B. Miller B: The apolipoprotein E epsilon4 allele is not a significant risk factor for frontotemporal dementia. *Ann Neurol* 44, 134-138 (1998).

79. R.A. Short, N.R. Graff-Radford, J. Adamson, M. Baker, M. Hutton M: Differences in tau and apolipoprotein E polymorphism frequencies in sporadic frontotemporal lobar degeneration syndromes. *Arch Neurol* 59, 611–615 (2002).

80. M. Riemenschneider, J. Diehl, U. Muller, H. Forstl, A. Kurz: Apolipoprotein E polymorphism in German patients with frontotemporal degeneration. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psych* 72, 639–641 (2002).

81. R. Srinivasan, Y. Davidson, L. Gibbons, A. Payton, A.M. Richardson, A. Varma, C. Julien, C. Stopford, J. Thompson, M.A. Horan, N. Pendleton, S.M. Pickering-Brown, D. Neary, J.S. Snowden, D.M. Mann: The apolipoprotein E epsilon4 allele selectively increases the risk of frontotemporal lobar degeneration in males. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psych* 77, 154-158 (2006).

82. Y. Du, R.C. Dodel, B.J. Eastwood,K.R. Bales, F. Gao, F. Lohmüller, U. Müller, A. Kurz, R. Zimmer, R.M. Evans, A. Hake, T. Gasser, W.H. Oertel, W.S. Griffin, S.M. Paul, M.R. Farlow: Association of an interleukin 1 alpha polymorphism with Alzheimer's disease. *Neurology* 55 (4), 480-483 (2000).

83. L.M. Grimaldi, V.M. Casadei, C. Ferri, F. Veglia, F. Licastro, G. Annoni, I. Biunno, G. De Bellis, S. Sorbi, C. Mariani, N. Canal, W.S. Griffin, M. Franceschi: Association of early-ons*et alz*heimer's disease with an interleukin-1alpha gene polymorphism. *Ann Neurol* 47 (3), 361-365 (2000).

84. J.A. Nicoll, R.E. Mrak, D.I. Graham, J. Stewart, G. Wilcock, S. MacGowan, M.M. Esiri, L.S. Murray, D. Dewar, S. Love, T. Moss, W.S. Griffin: Association of interleukin-1 gene polymorphisms with Alzheimer's disease. *Ann Neurol* 47 (3), 365-368 (2000).

85. A. Papassotiropoulos, M. Bagli, F. Jessen, T.A. Bayer, W. Maier, M.L. Rao, R. Heun: A genetic variation of the inflammatory cytokine interleukin-6 delays the initial onset and reduces the risk for sporadic Alzheimer's disease. *Ann Neurol* 45 (5), 666-668 (1999).

86. F. Licastro, M. Chiappelli M: Brain immune responses cognitive decline and dementia: relationship with

phenotype expression and genetic background. *Mech Ageing Dev* 124, 539-548 (2003).

87. J.S. Collins, R.T. Perry, B. Watson Jr, L.E. Harrell, R.T. Acton, D. Blacker, M.S. Albert, R.E. Tanzi, S.S. Bassett, M.G. McInnis, R.D. Campbell, R.C. Go: Association of a haplotype for tumor necrosis factor in siblings with late-onset alzheimer disease: the NIMH Alzheimer Disease Genetics Initiative. *Am J Med Genet* 96 (6), 823-830 (2000).

88. D. Blacker, M.A. Wilcox, N.M. Laird, L. Rodes, S.M. Horvath, R.C. Go, R. Perry, B. Watson Jr, S.S. Bassett, M.G. McInnis, M.S. Albert, B.T. Hyman, R.E. Tanzi: Alpha-2 macroglobulin is genetically associated with Alzheimer disease. *Nat Genet* 19 (4), 357-360 (1998).

89. C. Huerta, V. Alvarez, I.F. Mata, E. Coto, R. Ribacoba, C. Martínez, M. Blázquez, L.M. Guisasola, C. Salvador, C.H. Lahoz, J. Peña: Chemokines (RANTES and MCP-1) and chemokine-receptors (CCR2 and CCR5) gene polymorphisms in Alzheimer's and Parkinson's disease. *Neurosci Lett* 370 (2-3), 151-154 (2004).

90. O. Combarros, J. Infante, J. Llorca, J Berciano: No evidence for association of the monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (-2518) gene polymorphism and Alzheimer's disease. *Neurosci Lett* 360 (1-2), 25-28 (2004).

91. C. Fenoglio, D. Galimberti, C. Lovati, I. Guidi, A. Gatti, S. Fogliarino, M. Tiriticco, C. Mariani, G. Forloni, C. Pettenati, P. Baron, G. Conti, N. Bresolin, E. Scarpini: MCP-1 in Alzheimer's disease patients: A-2518G polymorphism and serum levels. *Neurobiol Aging* 25 (9), 1169-1173 (2004).

92. D. Galimberti, C. Fenoglio, C. Lovati, A. Gatti, I. Guidi, E. Venturelli, G.R. Cutter, C. Mariani, G. Forloni, C. Pettenati, P. Baron, G. Conti, N. Bresolin, E. Scarpini: CCR2-64I polymorphism and CCR5Delta32 deletion in patients with Alzheimer's disease. *J Neurol Sci* 225 (1-2), 79-83 (2004).

93. O. Combarros, J. Infante, J. Llorca, N. Pena N, C. Fernandez-Viadero, J. Berciano: The chemokine receptor CCR5-Delta32 gene mutation is not protective against Alzheimer's disease. *Neurosci Lett* 366 (3), 312-314 (2004).

94. C. Villa, E. Venturelli, C. Fenoglio, F. Clerici, A. Marcone, L. Benussi, R. Ghidoni, S. Gallone, F. Cortini, D. Scalabrini, M. Serpente, G. Binetti, S. Cappa, C. Mariani, I. Rainero, N. Bresolin, E. Scarpini, D. Galimberti: CCL8/MCP-2 association analysis in patients with Alzheimer's disease and frontotemporal lobar degeneration. *J Neurol* 256 (8), 1379-1381 (2009)

95. E. Venturelli, D. Galimberti, C. Fenoglio, C. Lovati, D. Finazzi, I. Guidi, B. Corrà, D. Scalabrini, F. Clerici, C. Mariani, G. Forloni, N. Bresolin, E. Scarpini: Candidate gene analysis of IP-10 gene in patients with Alzheimer's disease. *Neurosci Lett* 404 (1-2), 217-221 (2006).

96. E. Venturelli, D. Galimberti, C. Lovati, C. Fenoglio, D. Scalabrini, C. Mariani, G. Forloni, N. Bresolin, E. Scarpini: The T-786C NOS3 polymorphism in Alzheimer's disease: association and influence on gene expression. *Neurosci Lett* 382 (3), 300-303 (2005).

97. M. Dahiyat, A. Cumming, C. Harrington, C. Wischik, J. Xuereb, F. Corrigan, G. Breen, D. Shaw, D. St Clair: Association between Alzheimer's disease and the NOS3 gene. *Ann Neurol* 46 (4), 664-667 (1999).

98. F. Crawford, M. Freeman, L. Abdullah, J. Schinka, M. Gold, R. Duara, M. Mullan: No association between the NOS3 codon 298 polymorphism and Alzheimer's disease in a sample from the United States. *Ann Neurol* 47 (5), 687 (2000)

99. M. Sanchez-Guerra, O. Combarros, A. Alvarez-Arcaya, I. Mateo, J. Berciano, J. Gonzalez-Garcia, J Llorca: The Glu298Asp polymorphism in the NOS3 gene is not associated with sporadic Alzheimer's disease. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psych* 70, 566-567 (2001)

100. A. Tedde, B. Nacmias, E. Cellini, S. Bagnoli, S Sorbi: Lack of association between NOS3 polymorphism and Italian sporadic and familial Alzheimer's disease. *J Neurol* 249, 110-111 (2002)

101. R. Monastero, A.B. Cefalù, C. Camarda, C.M. Buglino, M. Mannino, C.M.Barbagallo, G. Lopez, L.K. Camarda, S. Travali, R. Camarda, M.R. Averna: No association between Glu298Asp endothelial nitric oxide synthase polymorphism and Italian sporadic Alzheimer's disease. *Neurosci Lett* 341, 229-232 (2003)

102. I. Guidi, D. Galimberti, E. Venturelli, C. Lovati, R. Del Bo, C. Fenoglio, A. Gatti, R. Dominici, S. Galbiati, R. Virgilio, S. Pomati, G.P. Comi, C. Mariani, G. Forloni, N. Bresolin, E. Scarpini: Influence of the Glu298Asp polymorphism of NOS3 on age at onset and homocysteine levels in AD patients. *Neurobiol Aging* 26 (6), 789-794 (2005)

103. K.S. Brown, L.A. Kluijtmans, I.S. Young, J. Woodside, J.W. Yarnell, D. McMaster, L. Murray, A.E. Evans, C.A. Boreham, H. McNulty, J.J. Strain, L.E. Mitchell, A.S. Whitehead: Genetic evidence that nitric oxide modulates homocysteine: the NOS3 894TT genotype is a risk factor for hyperhomocystenemia. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 23 (6), 1014-1020 (2003)

104. D. Galimberti, E. Venturelli, A. Gatti, C. Lovati, C. Fenoglio, C. Mariani, G. Forloni, N. Bresolin, E. Scarpini: Association of neuronal nitric oxide synthase C276T polymorphism with Alzheimer's disease. *J Neurol* 252, 985-986 (2005)

105. Y.J. Liou, C.J. Hong, H.C. Liu, C.Y. Liu, T.Y. Liu, I.C. Chen, S.J. Tsai: No association between the neuronal nitric oxide synthase gene polymorphism and Alzheimer's disease. *Am J Med Gen* 114, 687-688 (2002)

106. D. Galimberti, E. Scarpini, E. Venturelli, A Strobel, S. Herterich, C. Fenoglio, I. Guidi, D. Scalabrini, F. Cortini, N. Bresolin, K.P. Lesch, A. Reif: Association of a NOS1 promoter repeat with Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiol Aging* 29 (9), 1359-1365 (2008)

107. Y. Wang, D.C. Newton, G.B. Robb, C.L. Kau, T.L. Miller, A.H. Cheung, A.V. Hall, S. VanDamme, J.N. Wilcox, P.A. Marsden: RNA diversity has profound effects on the translation of neuronal nitric oxide synthase. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 96 (21), 12150-12155 (1999)

108. D. Saur, J.M. Vanderwinden, B. Seidler, R.M. Schmid, M.H. De Laet, H.D. Allescher: Single-nucleotide promoter polymorphism alters transcription of neuronal nitric oxide synthase exon 1c in infantile hypertrophic pyloric stenosis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 101 (6), 1662-1667 (2004)

109. A. Reif, S. Herterich, A. Strobel, A.C. Ehlis, D. Saur, C.P. Jacob, T. Wienker, T. Töpner, S. Fritzen, U. Walter, A. Schmitt, A.J. Fallgatter, K.P. Lesch: A neuronal nitric oxide synthase (NOS-I) haplotype associated with schizophrenia modifies prefrontal cortex function. *Mol Psych* 11 (3), 286-300 (2006)

110. M. Baker, I.R. Mackenzie, S.M. Pickering-Brown, J. Gass, R. Rademakers, C. Lindholm, J. Snowden, J. Adamson, A.D. Sadovnick, S. Rollinson, A. Cannon, E. Dwosh, D. Neary, S. Melquist, A. Richardson, D. Dickson, Z. Berger, J. Eriksen, T. Robinson, C. Zehr, C.A. Dickey, R. Crook, E. McGowan, D. Mann, B. Boeve, H. Feldman, M. Hutton: Mutations in progranulin cause tau-negative frontotemporal dementia linked to chromosome 17. *Nature* 442, 916-919 (2006)

111. M. Cruts, I. Gijselinck, J. van der Zee, S. Engelborghs, H. Wils, D. Pirici, R. Rademakers, R. Vandenberghe, B. Dermaut, J.J. Martin, C. van Duijn, K. Peeters, R. Sciot, P. Santens, T. De Pooter, M. Mattheijssens, M. Van den Broeck, I. Cuijt, K. Vennekens, P.P. De Deyn, S. Kumar-Singh, C. Van Broeckhoven: Null mutations in progranulin cause ubiquitinpositive frontotemporal dementia linked to chromosome 17q21. *Nature* 442, 920-924 (2006)

112. J. Zhu, C. Nathan, W. Jin, D. Sim, G.S. Ashcroft, S.M. Wahl, L. Lacomis, H. Erdjument-Bromage, P. Tempst, C.D. Wright, A. Ding A: Conversion of proepithelin to epithelins: roles of SLPI and elastase in host defense and wound repair. *Cell* 111, 867–878 (2002)

113. Z. Ahmed, I.R. Mackenzie, M.L. Hutton, D.W. Dickson: Progranulin in frontotemporal lobar degeneration and neuroinflammation. *J Neuroinflammation* 4, 7 (2007)

114. R. Daniel, Z. He, K.P. Carmichael, J. Halper, A. Bateman: Cellular localization of gene expression for progranulin. *J Histochem Cytochem* 48, 999-1009 (2000)

115. G. Coppola, A. Karydas, R. Rademakers, Q. Wang, M. Baker, M. Hutton, B.L. Miller, D.H. Geschwind: Gene

expression study on peripheral blood identifies progranulin mutations. *Ann Neurol* 64, 92-96 (2008)

116. N. Brouwers, K. Nuytemans, J. van der Zee, I. Gijselinck, S. Engelborghs, J. Theuns, S. Kumar-Singh, B.A. Pickut, P. Pals, B. Dermaut, V. Bogaerts, T. De Pooter, S. Serneels, M. Van den Broeck, I. Cuijt, M. Mattheijssens, K. Peeters, R. Sciot, J.J. Martin, P. Cras, P. Santens, R. Vandenberghe, P.P. De Deyn, M. Cruts, C. Van Broeckhoven, K. Sleegers: Alzheimer and Parkinson diagnoses in progranulin null mutation carriers in an extended founder family. *Arch Neurol* 64, 1436-1446 (2007)

117. L. Benussi, R. Ghidoni, E. Pegoiani, D.V. Moretti, O. Zanetti, G. Binetti: Progranulin Leu271LeufsX10 is one of the most common FTLD and CBS associated mutation worldwide. *Neurobiol Dis* 33, 379-385 (2009)

118. M. Carecchio, C. Fenoglio, M. De Riz, I. Guidi, C. Comi, F. Cortini, E. Venturelli, I. Restelli, C. Cantoni, N. Bresolin, F. Monaco, E. Scarpini, D. Galimberti D: Progranulin plasma levels as potential biomarker for the identification of GRN deletion carriers. A case with atypical onset as clinical amnestic Mild Cognitive Impairment converted to Alzheimer's disease. *J Neurol Sci* 15, 291-293 (2009).

119. N. Brouwers, K. Sleegers, S. Engelborghs, S. Maurer-Stroh, I. Gijselinck, J. van der Zee, B.A. Pickut, M. Van den Broeck, M. Mattheijssens, K. Peeters, J. Schymkowitz, F. Rousseau, J.J. Martin, M. Cruts, P.P. De Deyn, C. Van Broeckhoven: Genetic variability in progranulin contributes to risk for clinically diagnosed Alzheimer disease. *Neurology* 71, 656-664 (2008)

120. C. Fenoglio , D. Galimberti, F. Cortini, J.S. Kauwe, C. Cruchaga, E. Venturelli, C. Villa, M. Serpente, D. Scalabrini, K. Mayo, L.M. Piccio, F. Clerici, D. Albani, C. Mariani, G. Forloni, N. Bresolin, A.M. Goate, E. Scarpini: rs5848 variant influences GRN mRNA levels in brain and peripheral mononuclear cells in patients with Alzheimer's disease. *J Alzheimers Dis* 18 (3), 603-612 (2009)

121. D. Galimberti, C. Fenoglio, F. Cortini, M. Serpente, E. Venturelli, C. Villa, F. Clerici, A. Marcone, L. Benussi, R. Ghidoni, S. Gallone, D. Scalabrini, I. Restelli, F. Martinelli Boneschi, S. Cappa, G. Binetti, C. Mariani, I. Rainero, M.T. Giordana, N. Bresolin, E. Scarpini: GRN Variability Contributes to Sporadic Frontotemporal Lobar Degeneration. *J Alzheimers Dis* 19 (1), 171-177 (2010)

122. A. Grupe, Y. Li, C. Rowland, P. Nowotny, A.L. Hinrichs, S. Smemo, J.S. Kauwe, T.J. Maxwell, S. Cherny, L. Doil, K. Tacey, R. van Luchene, A. Myers, F. Wavrant-De Vrièze, M. Kaleem, P. Hollingworth, L. Jehu, C. Foy, N. Archer, G. Hamilton, P. Holmans, C.M. Morris, J. Catanese, J. Sninsky, T.J. White, J. Powell, J. Hardy, M. O'Donovan, S. Lovestone, L. Jones, J.C. Morris, L. Thal, M. Owen, J. Williams, A. Goate: A scan of chromosome 10 identifies a novel locus showing strong association with

late-onset alzheimer disease. Am J Hum Genet 78 (1), 78-88 (2006)

123. Y. Li, A. Grupe, C. Rowland, P. Nowotny, J.S. Kauwe, S. Smemo, A. Hinrichs, K. Tacey, T.A. Toombs, S. Kwok, J. Catanese, T.J. White, T.J. Maxwell, P- Hollingworth, R. Abraham, D.C. Rubinsztein, C. Brayne, F. Wavrant-De Vrièze, J. Hardy, M. O'Donovan, S. Lovestone, J.C. Morris, L.J. Thal, M. Owen, J. Williams, A. Goate: DAPK1 variants are associated with Alzheimer's disease and allele-specific expression. *Hum Mol Genet* 15 (17), 2560-2568 (2006)

124. D. Harold, R. Abraham, P. Hollingworth, R. Sims, A. Gerrish, M.L. Hamshere, J.S. Pahwa, V. Moskvina, K. Dowzell, A. Williams, N. Jones, C. Thomas, A. Stretton, A.R. Morgan, S. Lovestone, J. Powell, P. Proitsi, M.K. Lupton, C. Bravne, D.C. Rubinsztein, M. Gill, B. Lawlor, A. Lynch, K. Morgan, K.S. Brown, P.A. Passmore, D. Craig, B. McGuinness, S. Todd, C. Holmes, D. Mann, A.D. Smith, S. Love, P.G. Kehoe, J. Hardy, S. Mead, N. Fox, M. Rossor, J. Collinge, W. Maier, F. Jessen, B. Schürmann, H. van den Bussche, I. Heuser, J. Kornhuber, J. Wiltfang, M. Dichgans, L. Frölich, H. Hampel, M. Hüll, D. Rujescu, A.M. Goate, J.S. Kauwe, C. Cruchaga, P. Nowotny, J.C. Morris, K. Mayo, K. Sleegers, K. Bettens, S. Engelborghs, P.P. De Deyn, C. Van Broeckhoven, G. Livingston, N.J. Bass, H. Gurling, A. McQuillin, R. Gwilliam, P. Deloukas, A. Al-Chalabi, C.E. Shaw, M. Tsolaki, A.B. Singleton, R. Guerreiro, T.W. Mühleisen, M.M. Nöthen, S. Moebus, K.H. Jöckel, N. Klopp, H.E. Wichmann, M.M. Carrasquillo, V.S. Pankratz, S.G. Younkin, P.A. Holmans, M. O'Donovan, M.J. Owen, J. Williams: Genome-wide association study identifies variants at CLU and PICALM associated with Alzheimer's disease. Nat Genet 41 (10), 1088-1093 (2009)

125. J.C. Lambert, S. Heath, G. Even, D. Campion, K. Sleegers, M. Hiltunen, O. Combarros, D. Zelenika, M.J. Bullido, B. Tavernier, L. Letenneur, K. Bettens, C. Berr, F. Pasquier, N. Fiévet, P. Barberger-Gateau, S. Engelborghs, P. De Deyn, I. Mateo, A Franck, S. Helisalmi, E. Porcellini, O. Hanon, European Alzheimer's Disease Initiative Investigators, M.M. de Pancorbo, C. Lendon, C. Dufouil, C. Jaillard, T. Leveillard, V. Alvarez, P. Bosco, M. Mancuso, F. Panza, B. Nacmias, P. Bossù, P. Piccardi, G. Annoni, D. Seripa, D. Galimberti, D. Hannequin, F. Licastro, H. Soininen, K. Ritchie, H. Blanché, J.F. Dartigues, C. Tzourio, I. Gut, C. Van Broeckhoven, A. Alpérovitch, M. Lathrop, P- Amouvel: Genome-wide association study identifies variants at CLU and CR1 associated with Alzheimer's disease. Nat Genet 41 (10), 1094-1099 (2009)

126. C.A. Szekely, J.E. Thorne, P.P. Zandi, M. Ek, E. Messias, J.C. Breitner, S.N. Goodman: Nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs for the prevention of Alzheimer's disease: a systematic review. *Neuroepidemiology*, *23*, 159-169 (2004)

127. S.A. Reines, G.A. Block, J.C. Morris, G. Liu, M.L. Nessly, C.R. Lines, B.A. Norman, C.C. Baranak, Rofecoxib

Protocol 091 Study Group: Rofecoxib: no effect on Alzheimer's disease in a 1-year, randomized, blinded, controlled study. *Neurology* 62, 66-71 (2004)

128. P.S. Aisen, K.A. Schafer, M. Grundman, E. Pfeiffer, M. Sano, K.L. Davis, M.R. Farlow, S. Jin, R.G. Thomas, L.J. Thal, Alzheimer's Disease Cooperative Study: Effects of rofecoxib or naproxen vs placebo on Alzheimer's disease progression: a randomized controlled trial. *JAMA* 289, 2819-2826 (2003)

129. S. Scharf, A. Mander, A. Ugoni, F. Vajda, N.A. Christophidis: double-blind, placebo controlled trial of diclofenac/misoprostol in Alzheimer's disease. *Neurology* 53, 197-201 (1999)

130. H. Soininen, C. West, J. Robbins, L. Niculescu: Long-term efficacy and safety of celecoxib in Alzheimer's disease. *Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord* 23 (1), 8-21 (2007)

131. J.L. Eriksen, S.A. Sagi, T.E. Smith, S. Weggen, P. Das, D.C. McLendon, V.V. Ozols, K.W. Jessing, K.H. Zavitz, E.H. Koo, T.E. Golde: NSAIDs and enantiomers of flurbiprofen target gamma-secretase and lowe Abeta 42 *in vivo. J Clin Invest* 112 (3), 440-449 (2003)

132. P.S. Aisen, D.B. Marin, A.M. Brickman, J. Santoro, M. Fusco: Pilot tolerability studies of hydroxychloroquine and colchicine in Alzheimer disease. *Alz Dis Assoc Disord* 15 (2), 96-101 (2001)

133. P.S. Aisen, J. Schmeidler, G.M. Pasinetti: Randomized pilot study of nimesulide treatment in Alzheimer's disease. *Neurology* 58 (7), 1050-1054 (2002)

134. J. Rogers, L.C. Kirby, S.R. Hempelman, D.L. Berry, P.L. McGeer, A.W. Kaszniak, J. Zalinski, M. Cofield, L. Mansukhani, P. Willson, *et al*: Clinical trial of indomethacin in Alzheimer's disease. *Neurology* 43, 1609-1611 (1993)

135. N. Tabet, H. Feldman: Indomethacin for the treatment of Alzheimer's disease patients. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* CD003673 (2002)

136 M.E. Risner, A.M. Saunders, J.F. Altman, G.C. Ormandy, S. Craft, I.M. Foley, M.E. Zvartau-Hind, D.A. Hosford, A.D. Roses: Rosiglitazone in Alzheimer's Disease Study Group. Efficacy of rosiglitazone in a genetically defined population with mild-to-moderate Alzheimer's disease. *Pharmacogenomics J 6 (4)*, 246-254 (2006)

137. B. Dubois, H.H. Feldman, C. Jacova, S.T. Dekosky, P. Barberger-Gateau, J. Cummings, A. Delacourte, D. Galasko, S. Gauthier, G. Jicha, K. Meguro, J. O'brien, F. Pasquier, P. Robert, M. Rossor, S. Salloway, Y. Stern, P.J. Visser, P. Scheltens: Research criteria for the diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease: revising the NINCDS-ADRDA criteria. *Lancet Neurol* 6 (8), 734-746 (2007)

Abbreviations: AD: Alzheimer's disease; APP: Amyloid Precursors Protein; PSEN: presenilin; Abeta: Amyloid beta; NFTs: neurofibrillary tangles; SP: senile plaques; CTFs: Cterminal fragments; BACE1: beta site APP cleaving enzyme; MAPT: Microtubule Associating Protein Tau; TNFa: Tumor Necrosis Factor alpha; CSF: Cerebrospinal Fluid; TNFR1: TNF type 1 death receptor; IL: Interleuchin; LIF: Leukaemia Inhibitory Factor; MMSE: Mini Mental State Examination (MMSE); TGFb: Tumor Growth Factor; UTR: untranslated region; CNS: central nervous system; FTLD: Frontotemporal Lobar Degeneration; IP-10: Interferon-gamma-inducible Protein-10; MCP-1: Monocyte Chemoattractant Protein-1; MIP:1a and 1b: Macrophage Inflammatory Protein-1alpha and 1beta; MCI: Mild Cognitive Impairment; tHey: total plasma homocysteine; ROS: Reactive Oxygen Species; GSHPx: glutathione peroxidase; GSSG-R: glutathione reductase; TAC: Total Antioxidant Capacity; VaD: Vascular Dementia; TLRs: Toll-like receptors; RAGE: receptor for advanced glycation end products; PPARg: peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma; SNPs: Single Nucleotide Polymorphisms; APOE: Apolipoprotein E; VNTR: variable number of tandem repeats; IL1R: IL1 receptor antagonist; NOS: Nitric Oxide Synthase; PBMC: Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cells; GRN: progranulin.

Key Words: Alzheimer's disease, Amyloid beta, tau, inflammation, oxidative damage, nitric oxide, review

Send correspondence to: Daniela Galimberti, Department of Neurological Sciences, Dino Ferrari Center, University of Milan,Fondazione Ca' Granda, IRCCS Ospedale Maggiore Policlinico, Via F. Sforza 35, 20122, Milan, Italy, Tel: 390255033847, Fax: 390250320430, E-mail: daniela.galimberti@unimi.it

http://www.bioscience.org/current/volS3.htm